AEGON NV Form F-3ASR December 21, 2017 Table of Contents

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 21, 2017

Registration No.

# **UNITED STATES**

### SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

### FORM F-3

### REGISTRATION STATEMENT

**UNDER** 

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

### **AEGON N.V.**

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

**Not Applicable** 

(Translation of Registrant s name into English)

The Netherlands

# Edgar Filing: AEGON NV - Form F-3ASR

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

Not Applicable

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

Aegonplein 50

PO Box 85

2501 CB The Hague

The Netherlands

+31-70-344-3210

(Address and telephone number of Registrant s principal executive offices)

Jason Orlandi, Esq.

**Transamerica Corporation** 

4333 Edgewood Road NE

Cedar Rapids, IA 52499

(319) 355-7936

(Name, address and telephone number of agent for service)

Copy of communications to:

A. Peter Harwich, Esq.

Latham & Watkins LLP

885 Third Avenue

New York, NY 10022

(212) 906-1899

### Edgar Filing: AEGON NV - Form F-3ASR

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public:

### From time to time after the effective date of this Registration Statement.

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following box.

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.C. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.C. filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933.

Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company that prepares its financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act.

The term new or revised financial accounting standard refers to any update issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board to its Accounting Standards Codification after April 5, 2012.

### **CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE**

		Proposed	Proposed	
	Amount	maximum	maximum	
Title of each class of	to be	offering price	aggregate	Amount of
securities to be registered (1)	registered	per share (2)	offering price (2)	registration fee
Common Stock, par value EUR 0.12	1,256,914	\$6.32	\$7,943,696.48	None (2)

- (1) Consists of shares of Common Stock to be delivered pursuant to the Transamerica Corporation (formerly, Aegon USA) Producers Stock Purchase Plan.
- (2) Estimated solely for the purpose of determining the registration fee in accordance with Rule 457(c), based upon the average of the high and low prices of the Common Stock reported by New York Stock Exchange on December 19, 2017. The Registrant previously paid aggregate registration fees of \$2,701.60 with regard to 3,171,837 shares of Common Stock with a proposed maximum aggregate offering price of \$23,249,565 that were previously registered by the Registrant pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form F-3 (Registration No. 333-201038) filed on December 18, 2014 (the **Earlier Registration Statement**). A total of 1,256,914 shares of Common Stock with a proposed maximum aggregate offering price of \$9,213,179.62 were not sold under the Earlier Registration Statement (the **Unsold Securities**). The total registration fee in connection with the sale of Common Stock with an aggregate offering price of approximately \$7,943,696.48 to which this Registration Statement relates is \$988.99. In accordance with Rule 457(p), the Registrant offsets this registration fee against the remaining registration fee of \$1,070.57 relating to the Unsold Securities described above, so that no registration fee is payable with respect to the offering to which this Registration Statement relates.

### **Prospectus**

# 1,256,914 Shares of Common Stock

### Aegon N.V.

(a Netherlands public company with limited liability)

Transamerica Corporation Producers Stock Purchase Plan

(formerly, AEGON USA Producers Stock Purchase Plan)

This prospectus relates to up to 1,256,914 shares of common stock, par value EUR 0.12 per share of Aegon N.V. (the **Common Stock**) we may offer under the Transamerica Corporation Producers—Stock Purchase Plan (formerly, the Aegon USA Producers—Stock Purchase Plan) (the **Plan**) as described herein. The Plan has been established as a voluntary stock purchase plan for eligible participants of any subsidiary, division or affiliated company of Transamerica Corporation (formerly Aegon USA, LLC) that adopts the Plan. Such entities are referred to as **Participating Companies**. The Plan offers eligible participants an opportunity to purchase shares of Common Stock. Transamerica Corporation is a wholly owned subsidiary of Aegon N.V. (Aegon).

Under the Plan, participants are entitled to allocate a portion of the commissions or compensation earned by them on the sale of Participating Companies insurance or other designated products to purchase shares of Common Stock. Subject to certain vesting requirements, contributions of commissions by participants may be matched by a contribution depending upon which Participating Company the participant represents. The Plan will operate as an open-market stock purchase plan. At the present time, the Plan intends to acquire shares on the New York Stock Exchange at prevailing market prices, including applicable brokerage expenses.

### Investing in the Common Stock involves risks. See <u>Risk Factors</u> on page 7.

No underwriting discounts or commissions will be paid in connection with the offering of these shares of Common Stock. The Common Stock is listed on the Official Segment of the stock market of Euronext Amsterdam, the principal market for the Common Stock, on which it trades under the symbol AGN . The Common Stock is also listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol AEG. On December 19, 2017, the closing sales price per share on the New York Stock Exchange for the Common Stock was \$6.31.

# Edgar Filing: AEGON NV - Form F-3ASR

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined that this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this Prospectus is December 21, 2017.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS	1
ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS	3
AEGON N.V.	3
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION ABOUT US	4
INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION WE FILE WITH THE SEC	4
FINANCIAL INFORMATION	5
ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES	5
USE OF PROCEEDS	6
RISK FACTORS	7
DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN	7
CERTAIN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES	16
DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF AEGON N.V.	20
PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK	26
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	27
LEGAL MATTERS	27
<u>EXPERTS</u>	27
Appendix 1 Eligibility Requirements	A-1
Appendix 2 Participant Contributions	B-1
Appendix 3 Matching Contributions by Participating Companies	C-1

### FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

The statements contained in this document that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements as defined in the US Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The following are words that identify such forward-looking statements: aim, believe, estimate, target, intend, may, expect, anticipate, predict, project, counting on, plan, continue, want, forecast, goal, should, would, is confident, will, and similar expressions as they relate to Aegon. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Aegon undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which merely reflect company expectations at the time of writing. Actual results may differ materially from expectations conveyed in forward-looking statements due to changes caused by various risks and uncertainties. Such risks and uncertainties include but are not limited to the following:

Changes in general economic conditions, particularly in the United States, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom;

Changes in the performance of financial markets, including emerging markets, such as with regard to:

The frequency and severity of defaults by issuers in Aegon s fixed income investment portfolios;

The effects of corporate bankruptcies and/or accounting restatements on the financial markets and the resulting decline in the value of equity and debt securities Aegon holds; and

The effects of declining creditworthiness of certain public sector securities and the resulting decline in the value of government exposure that Aegon holds;

Changes in the performance of Aegon s investment portfolio and decline in ratings of Aegon s counterparties;

Consequences of a potential (partial) break-up of the euro;

Consequences of the anticipated exit of the United Kingdom from the European Union;

The frequency and severity of insured loss events;

Changes affecting longevity, mortality, morbidity, persistence and other factors that may impact the profitability of Aegon s insurance products;

# Edgar Filing: AEGON NV - Form F-3ASR

Reinsurers to whom Aegon has ceded significant underwriting risks may fail to meet their obligations;

Changes affecting interest rate levels and continuing low or rapidly changing interest rate levels;

Changes affecting currency exchange rates, in particular the EUR/USD and EUR/GBP exchange rates;

1

Changes in the availability of, and costs associated with, liquidity sources such as bank and capital markets funding, as well as conditions in the credit markets in general such as changes in borrower and counterparty creditworthiness;

Increasing levels of competition in the United States, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom and emerging markets;

Changes in laws and regulations, particularly those affecting Aegon s operations, ability to hire and retain key personnel, the products Aegon sells, and the attractiveness of certain products to its consumers;

Regulatory changes relating to the pension, investment, and insurance industries in the jurisdictions in which Aegon operates;

Standard setting initiatives of supranational standard setting bodies such as the Financial Stability Board and the International Association of Insurance Supervisors or changes to such standards that may have an impact in regional (such as EU), national or US federal or state level of financial regulation or the application thereof to Aegon, including the designation of Aegon by the Financial Stability Board as a Global Systemically Important Issuer ( G-SII );

Changes in customer behavior and public opinion in general related to, among other things, the type of products Aegon sells, including legal, regulatory or commercial necessity to meet changing customer expectations;

Acts of God, acts of terrorism, acts of war and pandemics;

Changes in the policies of central banks and/or governments;

Lowering of one or more of Aegon s debt ratings issued by recognized rating organizations and the adverse impact such action may have on Aegon s ability to raise capital and on its liquidity and financial condition;

Lowering of one or more of insurer financial strength ratings of Aegon s insurance subsidiaries and the adverse impact such action may have on the premium writings, policy retention, profitability and liquidity of its insurance subsidiaries;

The effect of the European Union s Solvency II requirements and other regulations in other jurisdictions affecting the capital Aegon is required to maintain;

### Edgar Filing: AEGON NV - Form F-3ASR

Litigation or regulatory action that could require Aegon to pay significant damages or change the way Aegon does business;

As Aegon s operations support complex transactions and are highly dependent on the proper functioning of information technology, a computer system failure or security breach may disrupt Aegon s business, damage its reputation and adversely affect its results of operations, financial condition and cash flows;

Customer responsiveness to both new products and distribution channels;

Competitive, legal, regulatory, or tax changes that affect profitability, the distribution cost of or demand for Aegon s products;

Changes in accounting regulations and policies or a change by Aegon in applying such regulations and policies, voluntarily or otherwise, which may affect Aegon s reported results and shareholders equity;

Aegon s projected results are highly sensitive to complex mathematical models of financial markets, mortality, longevity and other dynamic systems subject to shocks and unpredictable volatility. Should assumptions to these models later prove incorrect, or should errors in those models escape the controls in place to detect them, future performance will vary from projected results.

2

The impact of acquisitions and divestitures, restructurings, product withdrawals and other unusual items, including Aegon s ability to integrate acquisitions and to obtain the anticipated results and synergies from acquisitions;

Catastrophic events, either manmade or by nature, could result in material losses and significantly interrupt Aegon s business; and

Aegon s failure to achieve anticipated levels of earnings or operational efficiencies as well as other cost saving and excess capital and leverage ratio management initiatives.

Further details of potential risks and uncertainties affecting Aegon are described in its filings with the Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets and the US Securities and Exchange Commission, including the Annual Report. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this prospectus. Except as required by any applicable law or regulation, Aegon expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in Aegon s expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

### **ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS**

You should rely only on the information contained in or incorporated into this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information different from that contained in this prospectus. We are offering to sell the Common Stock only in jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted. The information contained in this prospectus, as well as information incorporated by reference, is current only as of the date of such information, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or the time of any purchases of the Common Stock. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since the relevant date. In this prospectus, except as otherwise noted, we, us, our, Aegon and the Aegon Group refer to Aegon N.V. and any or all of our subsidiaries and joint ventures as the context requires.

It is important for you to read and consider all information contained this prospectus in making your decision to participate in the Plan and to invest in our Common Stock. In addition, you should read and consider the information in the documents we have referred you to under Incorporation of Certain Information We File With The SEC below.

### **AEGON N.V.**

With roots dating back more than 150 years, Aegon N.V., through its member companies, which we collectively refer to as **Aegon** or the **Aegon Group**, is a leading provider of life insurance, pensions and asset management with its headquarters in The Hague, the Netherlands. Our Common Stock is listed on the Official Segment of the stock market of NYSE Euronext Amsterdam, the principal market for our Common Stock, on which they trade under the symbol AGN. Our Common Stock is also listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol AEG. Aegon operates in more than 25 countries in the Americas, Europe and Asia, and serves millions of customers. Its main markets are the United States, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom. Aegon encourages product innovation and fosters an entrepreneurial spirit within its businesses. New products and services are developed by local business units with a continuous focus on helping people take responsibility for their financial future. Aegon uses a multi-brand, multi-channel distribution approach to meet its customers needs. Aegon faces intense competition from a large number of other insurers, as well as non-insurance financial services companies such as banks, broker-dealers and asset managers, for individual customers, employer and other group customers and agents and other distributors of insurance and investment products.

Aegon N.V. is a holding company. Aegon s businesses focus on life insurance, pensions and asset management. Aegon is also active in accident, supplemental health, and general insurance, and has some limited banking activities. Aegon s operations are conducted through its operating subsidiaries. Aegon s headquarters are located at Aegonplein 50, P.O. Box 85, 2501 CB The Hague, the Netherlands (telephone +31-70-344-8305; internet: www.aegon.com).

### WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION ABOUT US

We file annual reports with and furnish other information to the SEC. You may read and copy any document that we have filed with or furnished to the SEC at the SEC s public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Our SEC filings are also available to the public through the SEC s web site at <a href="https://www.sec.gov">www.sec.gov</a>. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room in Washington, D.C. and in other locations.

### INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION WE FILE WITH THE SEC

As permitted by the SEC, this prospectus does not contain all the information you can find in our registration statement or the exhibits to the registration statement. The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference information into this prospectus, which means that:

incorporated documents are considered part of this prospectus;

we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents;

information that we file with the SEC after the date of this prospectus that is incorporated by reference in this prospectus automatically updates and supersedes this prospectus; and

information that is more recent that is included in this prospectus automatically updates and supersedes information in documents incorporated by reference with a date earlier than this prospectus. We incorporate by reference into this prospectus our documents listed below. Unless otherwise noted, all documents incorporated by reference have the SEC file number 1-10882.

Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016;

Report on Form 6-K furnished to the SEC on May 19, 2017, relating to resolutions passed at the annual general meeting of shareholders of Aegon N.V.;

Report on Form 6-K furnished to the SEC on August 10, 2017, relating to Aegon s report for the six months ended June 30, 2017;

# Edgar Filing: AEGON NV - Form F-3ASR

Report on Form 6-K furnished to the SEC on August 31, 2017, relating to Aegon s 2016 Solvency and Financial Condition Report;<sup>1</sup>

Report on Form 6-K furnished to the SEC on December 21, 2017, relating to Aegon s condensed consolidated interim financial statements Q3 2017; and

<sup>1</sup> The information included in the Solvency and Financial Condition Report as of December 31, 2016 (the Solvency Report ) has been prepared by, and is the responsibility of Aegon s management. PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. has not audited, reviewed, compiled or applied agreed-upon procedures with respect to the Solvency Report. Accordingly, PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. does not express an opinion or any other form of assurance with respect to the Solvency Report.

4

each of the following documents that we file with or furnish to the SEC after the date of this prospectus from now until we terminate the offering of securities under this prospectus and the registration statement:

reports filed under Section 13(a), 13(c) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

reports filed or furnished on Form 6-K that indicate that they are incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

These documents contain important information about us and our financial condition. You may obtain copies of these documents in the manner described above. You may also request a copy of these filings (excluding exhibits) at no cost by contacting us as follows:

**Investor Relations** 

Aegon N.V.

Aegonplein 50

2591 TV The Hague

The Netherlands

Tel: +31-70-344-8305

Tel: 1-877-548-9668 (US toll-free number)

E-mail: ir@aegon.com

No person is authorized to give any information or represent anything not contained in this prospectus. We are only offering the securities in places where sales of those securities are permitted. The information contained in this prospectus, as well as information incorporated by reference, is current only as of the date of that information. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date.

### FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Except as otherwise noted, we present the financial statement amounts in this prospectus and in the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ( **IFRS** ).

We have derived the financial data in this prospectus presenting year-end figures from our audited consolidated financial statements. We have derived all financial data in this prospectus presenting interim figures from unaudited financial statements.

As used in this prospectus, dollar, USD and \$ refer to the U.S. dollar and euro, EUR and refers to the lawfu of the member states of the European Monetary Union that have adopted the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended by the Treaty on European Union.

# Edgar Filing: AEGON NV - Form F-3ASR

# **ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES**

Aegon N.V. is a Dutch company located in the Netherlands. Many of our directors and officers are residents of the Netherlands or countries other than the United States. In addition, although we have substantial assets in the United States, a large portion of our assets and the assets of our directors and

officers are located outside of the United States. As a result, U.S. investors may find it difficult in a lawsuit based on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. Federal securities laws:

to effect service of process within the United States upon Aegon N.V. and our directors and officers located outside the United States;

to enforce in U.S. courts or outside the United States judgments obtained against those persons in U.S. courts;

to enforce in U.S. courts judgments obtained against those persons in courts in jurisdictions outside the United States; and

to enforce against those persons in the Netherlands, whether in original actions or in actions for the enforcement of judgments of U.S. courts, civil liabilities based solely upon U.S. Federal securities laws. The United States and the Netherlands do not currently have a treaty providing for reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters, except arbitration awards. Therefore, a final judgment for the payment of money rendered by any federal or state court in the United States based on civil liability, whether or not based solely upon the federal securities laws, would not be directly enforceable in the Netherlands. However, if the party in whose favor a final judgment is rendered brings a new suit in a competent court in the Netherlands, such party may submit to the Dutch court the final judgment that has been rendered in the United States. If the Dutch court finds that the jurisdiction of the federal or state court in the United States has been based on grounds that are internationally acceptable and that proper legal procedures have been observed, the court in the Netherlands would, in principle, give binding effect to the final judgment that has been rendered in the United States unless such judgment contravenes Dutch public policy.

A shareholder of a company incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands cannot sue individual members of the supervisory board or executive board derivatively; that is, in the name of and for the benefit of Aegon N.V.

Moreover, under Dutch law, the duties owed by members of the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board and Aegon N.V. Executive Board are owed primarily to Aegon N.V., not to our shareholders. This may limit the rights of the shareholders of a Dutch company to sue members of its supervisory or executive boards. Dutch law does not specifically provide for class action suits, such as a suit by one shareholder for his benefit and the benefit of others similarly situated against a company or its supervisory or executive directors.

#### **USE OF PROCEEDS**

Because all of the shares of our Common Stock purchased on behalf of Participants (as defined below) under the Plan will be purchased in open market transactions, we will not receive any proceeds from the purchases of such Common Stock. We intend to purchase shares under the Plan on the New York Stock Exchange or a foreign securities exchange on which our Common Stock is listed at prevailing market prices, including applicable brokerage expenses.

6

### **RISK FACTORS**

Investing in our Common Stock involves risks. Before making your decision to participate in the Plan and to invest in our Common Stock, you should read and carefully consider the Risk Factors beginning on page 336 of our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2016, which are incorporated herein by reference. Any of these risks as well as additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. As a result, the trading price of our Common Stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

You should also read and consider any other information included in this prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus as described under Incorporation of Certain Information We File With The SEC on page 4 of this prospectus, including any reports we may file with or furnish to the SEC subsequent to the date hereof.

### **DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN**

The following is a summary of the material features of the Plan. This description of the Plan (including provisions of the Declaration of Trust of Transamerica Corporation Producers Stock Purchase Plan (the **Declaration of Trust** )) is subject to the provisions of the Declaration of Trust which is incorporated by reference into this prospectus and has been filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part.

### General

Aegon has established the Plan as a company-subsidized voluntary stock purchase plan for eligible participants of any subsidiary, division or affiliated company of Transamerica Corporation that adopts the Plan. Such entities are referred to as **Participating Companies.** Eligible participants in the Plan include (i) individuals who represent a Participating Company under a sales or an agency contract or appointment, including, but not limited to, a general agent s, area sales director s, supervisor s, or designated sales representative s contract or appointment ( **Participating Agents** ); and (ii) individuals from corporations which perform services for a Participating Company under a sales or an agency contract ( **Participating Corporations** ) and who meet the other eligibility criteria described under Eligibility Requirements below. Participating Corporations include personal service corporations, corporations formed by multiple agents, and incorporated brokerage firms. The Plan is intended to serve as an investment vehicle for the Participating Agents and the individuals from the Participating Corporations. Collectively, such Participating Agents and the individuals from the Participating Corporations are referred to as **Participants**.

The Plan is an open-market stock purchase plan. Contributions of commissions by the Participants may be matched by a contribution by Aegon which varies depending on which Participating Company the participant represents. The amount of matching contributions are set forth in Appendix C. Matching contributions are subject to the vesting requirements described under Participant Contributions below. **Participation in the Plan is entirely voluntary**. The Plan is considered an unfunded plan because Aegon does not set aside any assets to secure the value of nonvested amounts credited to the Incentive Bonus Account (as defined below) of the Participants.

The Plan consists of two parts: a nonqualified deferred compensation plan ( **NQDC** ) of Aegon and a grantor trust (the **Trust** ) to receive the contributions from the Participants which have been converted

7

into Common Stock prior to deposit into the Trust (including reinvested dividends which have been used to purchase Common Stock on behalf of the Participants) as well as contributions of vested amounts transferred from the NQDC which have also been converted into Common Stock prior to deposit into the Trust. Each Participant will own an undivided interest in the assets of the Trust evidenced by ownership of shares of the Trust ( **Trust Shares** ). A separate book- entry record of the Trust Shares held for each Participant (the **Record** ) will be established and maintained to record each Participant s beneficial interest in the Trust assets. The Trust assets will be in the possession of a trustee appointed by Aegon (the **Trustee** ). Massachusetts Fidelity Trust Company ( **MFTC** ), an Iowa state chartered trust company, is Trustee of the Trust. MFTC is a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Transamerica Corporation.

The Trust assets consist primarily of Common Stock. However, the Trust assets also include, from time to time, a nominal amount of cash from the sale of Common Stock required for the necessary liquidation of a Participant s fractional interest in Trust Shares and cash dividends awaiting distribution to Participants or the reinvestment agent. Such cash is held by the Trustee in a non-interest-bearing account. Common Stock and the non- interest-bearing cash account is held in a segregated account in the name of the Trust.

# **Eligibility Requirements**

Eligible Participants must have and maintain a life insurance license, appointment and/or contract with a Participating Company (including, for purposes of a Participating Company that is a division of Transamerica Corporation, an insurance company affiliate of Transamerica Corporation) and must meet and maintain the specific eligibility requirements determined by a Participating Company set forth in Appendix A. Although the eligibility requirements are substantially different for each Participating Company, minimum eligibility requires sales commissions of at least \$200 per month for Participants. Appendix A sets forth the current eligibility requirements for a Participating Company. The Participating Companies reserve the right to amend the eligibility requirements from time to time.

Any Participant who redeems all of his Trust Shares will be ineligible for further participation in the Plan for one full calendar year after the date of the last redemption. Also, any Participant who has elected within 10 days prior to a new deposit or forfeiture allocation from the NQDC to directly receive the amount of such deposit or forfeiture allocation in Common Stock (as opposed to having such Common Stock deposited in the Trust on behalf of the Participant) will be ineligible for further participation in the Plan for one full calendar year after the date of the withdrawal. Therefore, no additional contributions by the Participant to the Trust or contributions by Aegon to the NQDC may be made on behalf of such Participant for one full calendar year. In addition, any non-vested amounts maintained in the NQDC on behalf of such Participant will be forfeited and their vesting for any future participation will be reduced to zero. Participants in the Plan representing more than one Participating Company may participate with respect to each Participating Company the Participant represents.

Eligible participants in the Plan do not include individuals who are considered to be statutory or common law employees or any individuals who have been forced-out of the Plan.

### **Participant Contributions**

Participants electing to participate in the Plan make periodic contributions to the Plan ( **Voluntary Participant Contributions** ) by authorizing the automatic deduction from their commission earnings of certain amounts of their commissions from the sale of certain life insurance, accident and health insurance and investment and annuity products specified by a Participating Company from time to time. Such

8

deductions are taken on an after-tax basis. Such deducted amounts are equal to a stated percentage or dollar amount of a Participant s commissions subject to the limits set forth in Appendix B. However, in no event shall Voluntary Participant Contributions exceed the lesser of \$120,000 and 25% of a Participant s total commissions in any Plan year.

The amount of the Participant s contribution is transferred to an independent broker to purchase Common Stock on the Participant s behalf. Common Stock acquired in the open market is deposited into the Trust on behalf of the Participant and in return the Participant receives an equal number of Trust Shares. See The Trust below. Brokerage expenses incurred in connection with the acquisition of Common Stock on the open market are deducted from Participant contributions thereby reducing the amount of Common Stock deposited into the Trust on behalf of the Participant. All contributions of Common Stock are deposited into the Trust. Participants electing to voluntarily discontinue their contributions will not be permitted to elect to resume such contributions until the beginning of the next Plan year. A Plan year refers to the twelve-month period beginning January 1 and ending the following December 31.

## **Matching Contributions**

Matching contributions by Aegon are accomplished by means of the NQDC. The matching contribution formula for a Participating Company is set forth in Appendix C together with Plan inception contributions for certain Participating Companies. The matching contribution varies for each Participating Company. Matching contributions are subject to the vesting requirements described under Vesting and Withdrawal. The matching contribution formula of a particular Participating Company may be changed upon 30 days advance notice to each Participant. Any such change will be effective thirty days after notice to applicable Participants.

Under the NQDC, an account ( Incentive Bonus Account ) is established for each Participant in the Plan. Matching contributions are converted to a number of shares of Common Stock at the time each matching contribution is credited. Matching contributions are credited to the Incentive Bonus Account of a Participant semi-monthly, as of the next business day following the 15th day of and the last day of each month following the determination of the matching contribution for such period. The number of shares credited to a Participant s account under the NODC depends on the market price of the Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange (or other exchange) on the day that Aegon purchases Common Stock to informally fund its obligations under the NODC. Under the Plan, Aegon is required to purchase Common Stock in its own name to match the liability created by the NQDC. However, until a Participant s interest in the NQDC vests such Participant has no right to such Common Stock and this asset is subject to the general creditors of Aegon. The NQDC portion of the Plan is considered an unfunded plan because Aegon does not set aside any assets to secure the value of nonvested amounts credited to the Incentive Bonus Account of the Participants. The value of the Incentive Bonus Account reflects an adjustment for any dividend income and unrealized gain or loss that would have resulted if such account had been funded with Common Stock and all dividends had been reinvested in Common Stock from the date of the purchase of Common Stock by Aegon to informally fund its obligations under the NQDC. Aegon may informally fund certain of its financial obligations under the NQDC by contributions from the Participating Companies. The amount of the matching contribution is reduced to the extent of any brokerage expenses incurred in acquiring the Common Stock on the open market. Upon vesting of contributions made on behalf of a Participant to the NQDC, the related amount of Common Stock is then deposited into the Trust on behalf of the Participant and the Participant receives the equivalent amount of Trust Shares.

9

In addition to the matching contributions by Aegon described above, Aegon, through a Participating Company, may from time to time contribute additional discretionary amounts to the NQDC, although Aegon is not obligated to do so. Such additional amounts, if any, will be allocated at the discretion of a Participating Company; however, in the absence of direction from a Participating Company, the additional amounts will be divided pro rata among the eligible Participants with respect to such Participating Company based upon current year Voluntary Participant Contributions.

Under the NQDC, Aegon also makes annual allocations within the NQDC of the amount of forfeitures under the NQDC due to early withdrawal from the Plan by Participants. Such allocations under the NQDC are made to the remaining eligible Participants of the Participating Company for which the forfeitures arose based on current year Voluntary Participant Contributions to the Trust (not including reinvested dividends). Such allocation shall be made January 1 of each year.

### **Purchases of Common Stock; Purchase Price**

The Plan operates as an open-market stock purchase plan. At the present time, Aegon acquires shares on behalf of Participants in the Plan on the New York Stock Exchange or a foreign exchange on which the Common Stock is listed. Voluntary Participant Contributions are forwarded by Aegon to an independent broker to purchase Common Stock. Generally, such amounts are forwarded so that purchases are made semimonthly on the 15th day and last day of each month (or, if the New York Stock Exchange is closed on the 15th day or last day of a particular month, on the next day on which the New York Stock Exchange is open for business) following receipt of such contributions (an **investment date**). If, for any reason, shares of Common Stock are unavailable for such a scheduled purchase, the independent broker purchases shares on the next date on which Common Stock becomes available, as of the open of that date. The independent broker shall purchase shares in such amounts, at such price and by such method as it determines in its sole discretion. In making such purchases, the independent broker will commingle amounts received by Aegon on behalf of all Plan Participants, and the purchase price for the shares purchased for each Participant is the average price of the shares purchased on the applicable investment date, including any applicable brokerage fees.

Upon receipt of each period s Participant Voluntary Contributions, Aegon will forward such contributions to an independent broker to purchase Common Stock as soon as administratively possible. If shares of Common Stock are not available for purchase and therefore such Voluntary Participant Contributions are unable to be invested in Common Stock, they will be held until the next date on which shares of Common Stock become available.

Common Stock purchased on behalf of Aegon to informally fund its obligations under the NQDC will be made on the next business day following the date that matching contributions are credited to the Incentive Bonus Account of Participants. Aegon will forward the necessary amounts to an independent broker to make the purchases on its behalf in accordance with the procedures set forth above.

### **Vesting and Withdrawal**

A Participant is fully vested in Voluntary Participant Contributions at all times while matching contributions credited to a Participant s Incentive Bonus Account are subject to vesting requirements.

A Participant s interest in the NQDC attributable to (i) matching contributions made by Aegon, (ii) discretionary contributions made by Aegon, and (iii) any forfeitures credited to a Participant s account, is subject to a 10-year vesting period, vesting at the rate of 10% for each full Plan year of continual eligibility and participation which follows the Participant s initial date of participation in the Plan. On December 31 of each Plan year, the vesting rate that will be applied to the matching contributions made to the NQDC on behalf of a Participant during the next Plan Year will be computed.

A Participant s interest in the NQDC which is or subsequently becomes fully vested will be automatically transferred on a quarterly basis in the form of Common Stock by Aegon to the Trust on behalf of the Participant, unless the Participant elects to receive the contribution directly in Common Stock. Such transfers will be made as soon as administratively possible following the end of such calendar quarter and each Participant will be credited with one Trust Share for each full share of Common Stock deposited to the Trust on his behalf.

The Trust Shares that are owned by a Participant are 100% vested at all times. A Participant therefore may terminate participation in the Plan at any time and receive an in kind distribution of the amount of Common Stock equal to the number of Trust Shares which are owned by him at such time. No fractional shares of Common Stock will be issued or delivered. Where applicable, cash representing fractional shares of Common Stock will be paid to the Participants. The value of such fractional shares will be calculated based upon the fair market value of such Common Stock which will be based upon the last reported sale price on the New York Stock Exchange or other applicable stock exchange on the business day next succeeding the date on which the value of the shares is to be fixed.

Notwithstanding the general vesting requirements set forth above, with respect to any Participant who was an agent of a Participating Company prior to the date that the Participating Company elected to adopt the Plan, and who subsequently becomes a Participant of the Plan within three months after such date, a year of participation for vesting purposes will be determined from the date the Participant became an agent of a Participating Company. For example, a Participant who became an agent of a Participating Company during 1998 and who becomes a Participant in the Plan by March 31, 2003 or the effective date for a Participating Company, if later, will be immediately vested as to 40% of any contributions to the NQDC on his/her behalf by Aegon. This only applies to provide uniformity in vesting to agents who are licensed and then become Participants when the company they are licensed with becomes a Participating Company. Additionally, a Participant who has more than one Incentive Bonus Account due to eligibility for this Plan with regard to more than one Participating Company shall have years of participation for vesting purposes on all such accounts be initially uniform and determined from the earliest date applicable to any such Participating Company and thereafter continual vesting shall be determined independently with regard to each Participating Company. Finally, a Participant who has been forced out of the Plan due to a statutory or common law employer-employee relationship with Aegon may receive from the appropriate Participating Company a year of participation for vesting purposes for each year the individual was a Participant in the Plan prior to being forced out.

A Participant who, for two calendar years, (i) fails to meet the eligibility requirements of a Participating Company, or (ii) does not contribute to the Plan will be treated as terminating participation in the Plan and will be forced to withdraw from the Plan.

A Participant who terminates participation in or withdraws from the Plan (including by reason of termination of the relationship with a Participating Company) prior to being 100% vested as to amounts in the Incentive Bonus Account under NQDC will forfeit the right to any part of the matching contributions to the NQDC made by Aegon on his behalf which have not yet vested, including any appreciation thereof. Any such forfeitures of non-vested amounts will be treated as additional contributions for the remaining Participants of the respective Participating Company for which the forfeitures arose and will be annually allocated in the NQDC to the remaining Participants based on the then current year Voluntary Participant Contributions to the Trust (excluding reinvested dividends). Forfeitures occurring during each Plan year will be treated as a contribution to the NQDC for the last month in such year.

Any Participant who dies, is permanently disabled, or ceases to participate at or after the age of 65, will be immediately vested as to the full amount of contributions made on his behalf to the NQDC, including any forfeitures allocated to him.

If the Plan terminates in its entirety or a Participating Company terminates its involvement in the Plan, all such Participants will be entitled to 100% vesting of all amounts allocated to them in the NQDC. Upon termination of participation in the Plan by a Participating Company, the Participants will be treated as having voluntarily redeemed all of their Trust Shares. However, such Participants will not be treated as having voluntarily redeemed all of their Trust Shares and will not be entitled to vesting of all amounts allocated to them in the NQDC where, within 30 days following termination by a particular Participating Company, another Participating Company assumes the liability for making contributions to the NQDC on behalf of the Participants.

# **Termination of Agency Relationship**

As of the date of voluntary or involuntary termination of an agency or registered representative contract, a Participant will automatically be deemed to have elected to redeem all Trust Shares owned by him.

### The Trust

Trust Shares. All contributions to the Trust are in the form of Common Stock. Ownership interests in the assets of the Trust are represented by Trust Shares. One Trust Share is equivalent to one share of Common Stock. Each Participant is the owner of the number of Trust Shares representing deposits to the Trust of Common Stock made on his behalf and the Trustee maintains a Record for each Participant reflecting the appropriate number of Trust Shares. The Trustee is authorized to hold fractional Trust Shares in the Participants Records. These deposits include contributions by the Participant which have been deposited into the Trust (which include reinvested dividends) in the form of Common Stock and contributions of vested amounts transferred from the NQDC which have also been deposited into the Trust in the form of Common Stock.

Dividends on the Common Stock. Current cash dividends or other income generated by Trust assets are, at the election of the Participant to whom the Common Stock relates, (i) paid in cash to a reinvestment agent (the **Reinvestment Agent**) and used by such Reinvestment Agent to purchase additional Common Stock to be deposited in the Trust on the Participant s behalf; or (ii) paid in cash to the Participant. The Reinvestment Agent appointed by Aegon acts on behalf of the Participants with regard to the reinvestment of each Participant s pro rata share of any dividend or other income generated by Trust assets. Currently, the Reinvestment Agent is MFTC, a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Aegon and the Trustee of the Trust. Any purchases of Common Stock made on behalf of the Participants by the Reinvestment Agent are made through an independent broker in the same manner as other purchases of Common Stock pursuant to the Plan. See Purchases of Common Stock; Purchase Price. The election by a Participant to receive current dividends or other income generated by Trust assets in cash (in lieu of reinvestment) are considered a permitted partial withdrawal and do not subject the Participant to a full calendar year limitation on further participation in the Plan. Such cash distributions are made as soon as administratively possible after determination of each Participant s pro rata share of such income.

12

*Voting Rights.* To the extent required by law, any voting rights in connection with the shares of Common Stock represented by a Participant s Trust Shares are passed through to that Participant. The Trustee will distribute to the Participants any proxy materials, reports, and other related materials with regard to any voting issues and will solicit voting instructions from the Participants by sending written requests for instructions. Each Participant s number of votes is determined based on the number of shares of the Trust owned by the Participant, including fractional shares, as of the most recent valuation date. The Trustee will vote all shares of Common Stock held by the Trust according to instructions given by the Participants; *provided, however*, that votes on shares of Common Stock as to which no timely instructions have been received will be voted by the Trustee in proportion to the voting instructions that have been received by the Participants.

Quarterly Statements. Each Participant will receive, at least quarterly, a statement (the **Statement of Record**) setting forth the total amount contributed to the Trust for such Participant, the number of Trust Shares held for the Participant by the Trustee, the current value of a Trust Share and the current value of the Participant s total interest in the Trust. This Statement of Record will also include information regarding the Participant s non-vested interest in the NQDC. In addition, the Trustee will, as soon as practicable after the end of each Plan year, issue to each Participant a Statement of Record for each Participant as of the end of the Plan year. Audited financial statements of the Trust will be prepared annually or as required by the Trustee, and, to the extent required by applicable rules and regulations, will be distributed to each Participant. However, in no event will audited financial statements be prepared and distributed less frequently than annually.

Transferability of Interest. Except as set forth below, Trust Shares owned by a Participant are nonassignable and may not be transferred in whole or in part. However, the Declaration of Trust provides for the limited right of assignment where certain Participants are compensated by a Participating Company on an advance commission basis or are otherwise indebted to a Participating Company. Participants who are compensated on an advance commission basis become indebted to a Participating Company to the extent of advance commission payments made by a Participating Company and are required by the Participating Company to assign the corresponding value of Trust Shares as security for such indebtedness. Therefore, Participants will be allowed to assign Trust Shares to a Participating Company as security to the extent of any such indebtedness to a Participating Company due to advance commission payments or other indebtedness to a Participating Company. Where liquidation of such collateral results in redemption of all or part of the Trust Shares owned by a Participant, such liquidation will be treated as a voluntary termination without notice to the Participant or the Trust.

Redemption of Trust Shares. A Participant may redeem at any time all of his Trust Shares by giving notice in writing to the Trustee. The total Trust Shares owned by a Participant will be determined as of the last day of the month in which such written notice is received and will include all contributions up to and including the last day of such month. Any distributions made upon redemption of Trust Shares will be made in the form of Common Stock with amounts representing fractional Trust Shares paid in cash, based upon the fair market value of such Common Stock which will be based upon the last reported sale price on the New York Stock Exchange or other applicable stock exchange on the business day next succeeding the date on which the value of the shares is to be fixed. Upon redemption of all Trust Shares owned by a Participant, such Participant will be ineligible for participation in the Plan for a period of one full calendar year after the date of such redemption.

Generally, if a Participant s Trust Shares are redeemed while any Indebtedness (as defined in the agency agreement between a Participating Company and the Participant) of a such Participant to his Participating Company remains outstanding, any such Indebtedness (other than *de minimis* amounts) will be set off against any distributions to be made to a such Participant upon redemption of his Trust Shares.

13

Participants may also make partial redemptions under certain circumstances. Once during each Plan year, Participants may make a partial redemption equal to a specified percentage of Trust Shares owned by them with the permitted percentage increasing based on years of participation and age of the Participant. A Participant may make an annual election to withdraw (i) 10% of Trust Shares after 15 years of participation; (ii) 10% of Trust Shares after the age 55; (iii) 20% of Trust Shares after 20 years of participation; or (iv) 20% of Trust Shares after the age 60. A redemption may also be permitted upon a written request of specific financial hardship or need by a Participant approved in writing by the Administrative Committee (as defined below) of the Plan. It will be in the sole discretion of the Administrative Committee to approve any such hardship withdrawal request. For this purpose, hardship means an immediate and heavy financial need of the Participant. As set forth in the Declaration of Trust and in the Plan, an immediate and heavy financial need includes, but is not limited to: extraordinary expenses incurred on account of accident, sickness, disability or any emergency affecting a Participant or his dependents; the prevention of the eviction from or the foreclosure on a Participant s principal residence; the purchase of a Participant s principal residence; the payment of post-secondary tuition for a Participant, his spouse or his dependent; and such other hardship criteria as the Administrative Committee may from time to time establish. Participants obtaining hardship withdrawals may not make contributions until January 1 of the next year, provided they are otherwise eligible.

Pursuant to the Plan, Participants who redeem all of their Trust Shares will forfeit any amounts contributed to the NQDC by Aegon on their behalf which have not yet vested. In addition, Participants who are dismissed with cause by Aegon will forfeit any such contributions by Aegon to the NQDC and any forfeitures previously allocated to them in the NQDC which have not yet vested. **Dismissed with cause** is defined in the Declaration of Trust to mean dismissal of a Participant by a Participating Company as determined by the Participating Company. Forfeitures of such Participants dismissed with cause will be allocated in the NQDC to the remaining Participants in the same manner as other forfeitures of amounts in the NQDC. Any Participant dismissed with cause that subsequently becomes eligible to participate in the Plan will begin a new vesting period.

If a Participant dies, becomes permanently disabled or terminates an agency contract at or after age 65 with any of the Participating Companies, or dies or becomes permanently disabled prior to age 65, the number of Trust Shares owned by him or her as of the most recent month-end valuation date will be distributed in total in the form of Common Stock to him or her, or his/her beneficiaries. Any distributions hereunder will commence as soon as administratively possible after the last day of the month in which proper notice of such event was given to the Trustee.

If the Plan terminates in its entirety or a Participating Company terminates its involvement in the Plan, all such Participants will be entitled to 100% vesting of all amounts allocated to them in the NQDC. Upon termination of participation in the Plan by a Participating Company, the Participants will be treated as having voluntarily redeemed all of their Trust Shares. However, such Participants will not be treated as having voluntarily redeemed all of their Trust Shares and will not be entitled to vesting of all amounts allocated to them in the NQDC where, within 30 days following termination by a particular Participating Company, another Participating Company assumes the liability for making contributions to the NQDC on behalf of the Participants.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant who has a vested Trust Share value of \$250,000, or more, in his/her account may withdraw an amount of vested Trust Shares from his/her account in excess

14

of this amount. The Participant shall always retain a vested Trust Share value of at least \$250,000 in the account. This withdrawal request must be submitted in writing to the Plan Administrator and will only be available once per calendar year. Any such withdrawal will not cause a forfeiture of any amounts contributed to the NQDC by Aegon on the Participant s behalf which have not yet vested.

Administration of the Plan and the Trust. The Trustee has been appointed by Aegon to administer the Trust and may be removed by Aegon at any time upon written notice to such Trustee. The Chief Executive Officer of Transamerica Corporation will have the authority to act for Aegon to control and manage the operation and administration of the Plan. An administrative committee (the Administrative Committee) for the Plan has been selected to oversee the daily administration of the Plan. In the event of the resignation or removal of the Trustee, the Administrative Committee will promptly appoint a successor Trustee. Resignation of the Trustee must be in writing and will take effect 30 days after receipt unless the Administrative Committee appoints a successor Trustee prior to that time in which case the resignation will take effect upon appointment of the successor Trustee.

Specifically, the Administrative Committee is responsible for overseeing the Plan operation, approving hardship requests, resolving problem situations and reviewing on an ongoing basis technical and legal issues with respect to the Plan. The Trustee is responsible for coordinating the various management duties of the Trust, including receiving Common Stock for deposit into the Trust, recordkeeping, providing Statements of Record, tracking tax bases in the Common Stock, preparing Trust filings, passing on voting materials to Participants, complying with Commission requirements and coordinating the transfer of Common Stock into the Trust from the NQDC. As the Reinvestment Agent, MFTC is also responsible for holding and soliciting election forms from the Participants and redepositing income and dividends in the form of Common Stock into the Trust on behalf of the Participants electing such reinvestment. In addition, the Trustee is responsible for any filings, reportings and any tax withholdings and remittance required by law with respect to Trust income or distributions. If any taxes upon or with respect to the Trust or any of its assets or income are payable by the Trustee, such amounts will be charged on a pro rata basis to Participants based on their number of Trust Shares. Expenses that may be charged to Participants are subject to certain limitations.

Currently the Trustee is not compensated for its services from the assets of the Trust but will be reasonably compensated for its services by Aegon or the Participating Companies as determined by the Administrative Committee. However, any fees for Trustee s services not paid by Aegon or the Participating Companies will be paid pro rata from the assets of the Trust. The Trustee will also be authorized to act solely on the basis of notifications and facts received from the Participating Companies regarding allocations of Common Stock and redemptions of Trust Shares to be made. All reasonable and necessary expenses, taxes and charges, and fees for agents, brokers, accountants and counsel to the Trust are authorized to be paid by the Trustee.

Indemnification of Trustee. The Trustee will be indemnified by Aegon, the Participating Companies, or by the Trust, or all, against any loss or liability accruing to it without negligence, bad faith, or willful misconduct on its part, arising out of or in connection with the administration of the Trust. As a fiduciary for the Trust, the Trustee is authorized to hold, manage and control all property at any time forming part of the Trust; to employ such agents, brokers, accountants and counsel or any other agents (except for brokers) affiliated with Aegon or Transamerica Corporation, as may be reasonably necessary in managing and protecting the Trust and to pay them reasonable compensation; to settle, compromise or abandon all claims and demands in favor of or against the Trust; and to do all other acts in their judgment necessary and desirable for the proper administration of the Trust and the Plan.

### **Termination and Amendment of the Plan**

As future conditions affecting Aegon cannot be foreseen, Aegon reserves the right to terminate the Plan and the Trust at any time, or to amend or restate it from time to time as directed by the Chief Executive Officer of Transamerica Corporation. However, no amendment to the Plan or Trust which would operate to change the investments of the Trust may be made without a written opinion from legal counsel that such a change would not jeopardize the tax status or any other aspect or element of the Trust. Aegon shall promptly give notice of any such action to the Trustee, all Participating Companies and to the Participants affected thereby. An amendment may affect the Participants, but may not diminish the rights of any Participant as of the effective date of such modification or divest him or any right or interest which was then yested in him.

The Trust shall terminate in the event of the dissolution, merger or consolidation of Aegon, or the sale or other disposition of substantially all of its assets, unless within one hundred eighty (180) days thereafter provision is made by the successor for continuing the Trust; and in that event such successor shall be substituted for Aegon hereunder. The Trustee then acting may order and direct that the Trust be terminated in the event Aegon shall be adjudicated a bankrupt or shall be placed in receivership.

# Limitations on Common Stock Repurchases by Aegon

Aegon N.V. s articles of incorporation and the laws of the Netherlands contain certain restrictions on the number of shares of Common Stock that Aegon may repurchase. In addition, such repurchases may only be made upon the receipt of appropriate authorizations from the shareholders of Aegon. The number of shares of Common Stock purchased in the open market pursuant to the Plan may be considered repurchases by Aegon and may be combined with other repurchases of Common Stock by Aegon for purposes of those limitations. In the event that the purchase limitations are exceeded or shareholder approval for repurchases is not continued, Aegon reserves the right to terminate or suspend the Plan.

# CERTAIN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

This discussion is the opinion of Allen & Overy LLP insofar as it relates to matters of U.S. federal income tax law and describes certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of participation in the Plan.

Overview of Recognition of Income for Federal Income Tax Purposes. Each Participant will recognize taxable ordinary income in the amount of Aegon's matching contribution to the NQDC when such contribution vests, the Plan terminates or, generally, a Participating Company terminates its involvement in the Plan unless a Section 83(b) election was previously made to include the nonvested amount in a Participant s taxable ordinary income. A Participant s pro rata portion of dividends paid with respect to the Common Stock held by the Trust can be taxable as ordinary income or capital gain or treated as a return of capital generally depending on whether such dividends are paid out of Aegon's earnings and profits and such Participant s basis in the Common Stock represented by its Trust Shares. If any nonvested amounts allocable to a Participant were previously included in such Participant s taxable income pursuant to a Section 83(b) election, but are subsequently forfeited, such Participant may treat as a loss the excess (if any) of (i) the amount paid (if any) for such nonvested amount over (ii) the amount realized upon such forfeiture. A Participant can generally recognize taxable gain (or loss) when Common Stock is disposed of by the Trust but not if the Participant redeems any Trust Shares (except, with respect to any amounts received, if any, in lieu of fractional shares of Common Stock). Finally, if a Participant s pro rata interest in the Common Stock does not equal a whole share, he may receive, entirely cash in exchange for his pro rata portion of the Common Stock and recognize taxable gain or loss.

Payments to the Trust of dividends on the Common Stock may be subject to certain Netherlands foreign taxes and a Participant should consider whether the Trust Shares or any dividend income and long-term capital gain relating thereto may be subject to state and local taxes.

The following is a summary of certain material federal income tax consequences of participation in the Plan as of the date hereof. Participants should consult their own tax advisers in evaluating the federal, state, local and any other tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and redemption of the Trust Shares in the Trust and should consider any consequences which may be affected by their own particular circumstances.

The Trust is not structured to qualify as an exempt plan under Section 401 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the **Code**).

The Trust is not an association taxable as a corporation for federal income tax purposes; each Participant will be treated as the owner of a pro rata portion of the assets of the Trust under the Code; and the income of the Trust will be treated as income of the Participants thereof under the Code. A Participant will be considered to have received his pro rata share of the income derived from each share of Common Stock when such income is received by the Trust.

A Participant s contribution to the Trust (which is derived from the Participant s taxable earnings and is therefore considered to be made with after-tax dollars ) and Aegons s nonvested contribution to the NODC are nontaxable to the Participant (unless a Section 83(b) election is made to currently include the nonvested amount in his taxable income as discussed in Section 83(b) Election below). The NQDC will not be treated as part of the Trust for purposes of the discussion set forth in the preceding paragraph. Each Participant will recognize taxable ordinary income as compensation in the amount of Aegon s matching contribution to the NQDC when such contribution vests (unless a Section 83(b) election was previously made to include the nonvested amount in his taxable income as discussed in Section 83(b) Election below). A Participant s contribution and a vested Aegon matching contribution are allocated among the Participant s pro rata portion of the Common Stock held by the Trust (in proportion to the fair market value thereof on the date that the Common Stock is purchased) in order to determine his tax basis for his pro rata portion of Common Stock held by the Trust. The holding period applicable to particular Common Stock depends on how such Common Stock is transferred to the Trust. A particular holding period will begin just after a NQDC amount vests or a Section 83(b) election is made relating to such NQDC amount, or on the day after the date the Participant s contribution or reinvested amount (dividends and other income distributed from the Trust) is converted into Common Stock as applicable. For federal income tax purposes, a Participant s pro rata portion of dividends, as defined by Section 316 of the Code, paid with respect to the Common Stock held by the Trust is generally taxable as a qualified dividend to the extent of Aegon's current and accumulated earnings and profits; such income will be recognized by a Participant for federal income tax purposes when it is received by the Trust or as such dividends accrue, depending upon such Participant s method of tax accounting and without regard to whether or not such dividends are reinvested by the Trust. A Participant s pro rata portion of any dividends paid on Common Stock which exceed such current and accumulated earnings and profits will first reduce a Participant s tax basis in Common Stock held by the Trust, and to the extent that such dividends exceed a Participant s tax basis in such Common Stock has been reduced to zero, such dividends shall generally be treated as capital gain. In general, any such capital gain will be short-term unless a Participant has held his Trust Shares for more than one year.

Any nonvested amounts allocable to a Participant which are held in the NQDC and are forfeited by such Participant pursuant to the terms of the Plan do not result in a taxable loss recognized by the

Participant (unless a Section 83(b) election was made to include the nonvested amounts in his taxable income as discussed in Section 83 (b) Election below). Instead, the Participant s recognizable loss upon forfeiture of amounts in connection with a redemption will be limited to the excess (if any) of (i) the amount paid (if any) for such nonvested amount over (ii) the amount realized upon such forfeiture and may be subject to other federal income tax provisions limiting a Participant s ability to recognize such loss. Taxable gain or loss should not be recognized by a Participant in connection with in-kind distributions of Common Stock from the Trust to such Participant, except with respect to cash received, if any, in lieu of fractional shares of Common Stock. In such a case, a Participant s portion of gain, if any, recognized upon the disposition of Common Stock held by the Trust would generally be considered a capital gain and would be long-term if the Participant has held his Trust Shares for more than one year and a Participant s portion of loss, if any, upon the disposition of Common Stock held by the Trust would generally be considered a capital loss and, in general, would be long-term if the Participant has held his Trust Shares for more than one year. **Participants** should consult their tax advisers regarding the recognition and character as long-term or short-term of such capital gains and losses for federal income tax purposes.

Section 83(b) Election. A Participant may file a Section 83(b) election before but not later than 30 days after the date the Participating Company contributes funds to the NQDC. If a Section 83(b) election is made, the amount contributed to the NODC for the benefit of such Participant by the Participating Company is included in the Participant s taxable income as ordinary income treated as compensation for services in the year of contribution and the vesting rules described above do not apply with respect to amounts for which the election has been properly made. Thus, when the amount subsequently vests and is converted into Common Stock and is deposited in the Trust, there is no taxable event to the Participant at the time such amounts vests, provided that the Section 83(b) election had been properly made. In computing the gain or loss from a subsequent sale of the Common Stock by the Trust or any redemption of Trust Shares in exchange for Common Stock by the Participant, the Participant s tax basis with respect to his share of the Common Stock held by the Trust will include the amount that was previously included in the Participant s taxable income and the holding period with respect to such Common Stock will commence just after the date the funds were contributed to the NQDC by the Participating Company. If any nonvested amounts allocable to a Participant previously included in such Participant s taxable income pursuant to a Section 83(b) election, but are subsequently forfeited, such Participant may treat as a loss the excess (if any) of (i) the amount paid (if any) for such nonvested amount over (ii) the amount realized upon such forfeiture. This loss will generally be considered a capital loss. Once a Section 83(b) election is made it is irrevocable without the consent of the Internal Revenue Service. Participants should consult their tax advisers concerning the tax consequences of a Section 83(b) election and for specific information about the manner in which the election is made.

Recognition of Taxable Gain or Loss upon Disposition of Common Stock by the Trust or Redemption of Trust Shares. A Participant will recognize a taxable gain (or loss) when Common Stock is disposed of by the Trust (regardless of whether or not the proceeds realized are distributed to the Participant) but not if the Participant redeems any Trust Shares (except with respect to any cash received, if any, in lieu of fractional shares of Common Stock). The amount of gain or loss recognized will be based on the difference between the amount of proceeds and the Participant s tax basis in his interest in such Common Stock. For taxpayers other than corporations, net capital gains are currently subject to a reduced tax rate, provided that the twelve-month holding period is met.

18

In addition, qualified dividend income is treated as net capital gain and is therefore also subject to the lower rates. Because some or all capital gains are taxed at a comparatively lower rate, there is a provision in the Code that re-characterizes capital gains as ordinary income in the case of certain financial transactions that are conversion transactions effective for transactions entered into after April 30, 1993. Participants should consult with their tax advisers regarding the potential effect this provision as well as the other provisions of the Code on their investment in the Trust Shares.

Medicare Tax on Net Investment Income

A Participant generally will be subject to a 3.8% tax on the lesser of (1) the Participant s net investment income for the relevant taxable year and (2) the excess of the Participant s modified adjusted gross income for the taxable year over a certain threshold (which generally will be between US\$125,000 and US\$250,000, depending on the Participant s circumstances). A Participant s net investment income will generally include its income from, including but not limited to, dividends and gains from the disposition of Common Shares, unless such income or net gains are derived in the ordinary course of the conduct of a trade or business (other than a trade or business that consists of certain passive or trading activities).

Special Tax Consequences of In-Kind Distributions upon Redemption of Trust Shares or Termination of the Trust.

Consequences of Immediate Vesting. If the Plan terminates in its entirety or a Participating Company terminates its involvement in the Plan without another Participating Company assuming payments to the NQDC within 30 days, all Participants are entitled to 100% vesting of all amounts allocated to them in the NQDC. These vested amounts are taxable in the same manner as the previously discussed NQDC vested amounts. Thus, the tax consequences to a Participant of his share of the contributed amounts will depend upon whether a Section 83 (b) election was made, as discussed above.

Consequences of Redemption. As previously discussed, prior to the redemption of Trust Shares or the termination of the Trust, a Participant is considered as owning a pro rata portion of each of the Trust assets for federal income tax purposes. The receipt of an In-Kind Distribution upon the redemption of Trust Shares or the termination of the Trust would be deemed an exchange of such Participant s pro rata portion of each of the shares of Common Stock and any other assets held by the Trust in exchange for an undivided interest in whole shares of Common Stock plus, possibly, cash. The discussion set forth below does not address the consequences of immediate vesting of a Participant s share of any amounts contributed to the Plan, those consequences were separately discussed above.

There are generally three different potential tax consequences which may occur in connection with an In-Kind Distribution with respect to the Common Stock. If the Participant receives only whole shares of Common Stock in exchange for his pro rata portion in each share of such Common Stock held by the Trust, there is no taxable gain or loss recognized upon such deemed exchange pursuant to Section 1036 of the Code. If the Participant receives whole shares of Common Stock plus cash in lieu of a fractional share of such Common Stock, and if the fair market value of the Participant s pro rata portion of the shares of such Common Stock exceeds his tax basis in his pro rata portion of such Common Stock, taxable gain would be recognized in an amount not to exceed the amount of such cash received, pursuant to Section 1031(b) of the Code. No taxable loss would be recognized upon such an exchange pursuant to Section 1031(c) of the Code, whether or not cash is received in lieu of a fractional share. Under either of these circumstances, special rules will be applied under Section 1031(d) of the Code to determine the Participant s tax basis in the shares of the Common Stock which he receives as part of the In-Kind Distribution. Finally, if a Participant s pro rata interest in the Common Stock does not equal a whole share, he may receive entirely cash in exchange for his pro rata portion of the Common Stock. In such case, taxable gain or loss is recognized by the Participant and is measured by comparing the amount of cash received by the Participant with his tax basis in the Common Stock.

*General*. Participants will be notified at least quarterly of the amounts contributed to the Trust for each Participant, the number of Trust Shares held for each Participant, the current value of a Trust Share, the total interest in the Trust, and other information regarding the Participant s interest in the NQDC. Participants will be notified annually of the amounts of dividends includable in the Participant s gross income and amounts of Trust expenses which may, subject to the limitations discussed above, be claimed as itemized deductions.

Where applicable, the Trustee will be responsible for any tax filings, reporting, and any tax withholdings and remittance required by law with regard to the Trust income or distributions.

State, Local or Other Tax Consequences. The discussion set forth above does not address whether or not there are any related state, local or other taxes (including any foreign taxes) associated with the Plan and Participants should consult their own tax advisers in this regard. Payments to the Trust of dividends on the Common Stock may be subject to certain Netherlands or foreign taxes and Participants should consult their tax advisers regarding the potential tax consequences relating to the payment of any such withholding taxes by the Trust. Because, under the grantor trust rules, an investor is deemed to have paid directly his share of foreign taxes that have been paid or accrued, if any, an investor may be entitled to a foreign tax credit or deduction for United States tax purposes with respect to such taxes. A Participant should consider whether dividend income and long-term capital gains may be subject to state and local taxes. Participants should consult their own tax advisers regarding the tax consequences of participating in the Plan.

### DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF AEGON N.V.

The following is a summary of the terms of Aegon N.V. s share capital, including brief descriptions of provisions contained in Aegon N.V. s articles of association, as last amended on May 29, 2013. These summaries and descriptions do not purport to be complete statements of these provisions.

## **Share Capital**

Since May 29, 2013, the total authorized share capital of Aegon N.V. consists of 6,000,000,000 common shares, par value EUR 0.12 per share, and 3,000,000,000 common shares B, par value EUR 0.12 per share. As of November 30, 2017, 2,095,648,244 common shares and 585,022,160 common shares B were issued. Of the issued common shares, 55,269,647 common shares were held by Aegon N.V. as treasury shares, and 2,303,088 common shares B were held by Aegon N.V. as treasury shares B.

All of our common shares and common shares B are fully paid and not subject to calls for additional payments of any kind. All of our common shares are registered shares. Holders of shares of New York registry (the **New York Shares**) hold their common shares in registered form issued by our New York transfer agent on our behalf. New York Shares and shares of Netherlands registry are exchangeable on a one-to-one basis and are entitled to the same rights, except that cash dividends are paid in US dollars on shares of New York registry.

As of November 30, 2017, 281,487,829 common shares were held in the form of New York Shares. As of November 30, 2017, there were approximately 17,031 record holders resident in the United States, of our New York Shares.

# **Dividends**

Under Dutch law and Aegon N.V. s articles of association, holders of Aegon N.V. common shares and common shares B are entitled to dividends paid out of the profits remaining, if any, after the creation of a reserve account. Holders of common shares B are entitled to one-fortieth (1/40) of the dividends on common shares, if any, paid. The Aegon N.V. Executive Board may determine the dividend payment date and the dividend record date for the common shares and the common shares B, which may vary between certificated and uncertificated shares. The Aegon N.V. Executive Board, with the approval of the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board, may also determine the currency or currencies in which the dividends will be paid.

Aegon N.V. may make one or more interim distributions to the holders of common shares and/or common shares B.

If and when Aegon N.V. has paid any dividends in the past, it has traditionally paid interim dividends (usually in September) after the release of its six-month results and final dividends (usually in June) upon adoption of the annual accounts at the annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

Aegon N.V. aims to pay out a sustainable dividend to allow equity investors to share in its performance, which can grow over time if its performance so allows. Aegon N.V. s plans for returning capital to shareholders are based on its actual and expected capital position within the capital management zones, the expected levels of capital generation and the expected allocation of capital to invest in Aegon N.V. s strategy, in new business, and in the quality of its balance sheet. After investment in new business to generate organic growth, capital generation in its operating subsidiaries is available for distribution to the holding company, while maintaining a capital and liquidity position in the operating subsidiaries in line with its capital management and liquidity risk policies in addition to adhering to local regulatory and statutory requirements and restrictions.

Aegon N.V. uses the cash flows from the operating subsidiaries to pay holding expenses, including funding costs. The remaining cash flow is available to execute its strategy and to fund dividends on its shares, subject to maintaining the holding company targeted capital. Depending on circumstances, future prospects and other considerations, the Aegon N.V. Executive Board may elect to deviate from this target. The Aegon N.V. Executive Board will also take capital position, financial flexibility, leverage ratios and strategic considerations into account when declaring or proposing dividends on its shares.

While Aegon N.V. uses dividends as the primary means to distribute capital to Aegon s shareholders, share buyback programs are also recognized as an appropriate means to return capital.

Under normal circumstances, Aegon N.V. would expect to declare an interim dividend when announcing its second quarter results and to propose a final dividend at the annual General Meeting of Shareholders for approval. Dividends would normally be paid in cash or stock at the election of the shareholder. The relative value of cash and stock dividends may vary. Stock dividends paid may, subject to capital management and other considerations, be repurchased in order to limit dilution.

When determining whether to declare or propose a dividend, the Aegon N.V. Executive Board has to balance prudence versus offering an attractive return to shareholders, for example in adverse economic and/or financial market conditions. Also, Aegon N.V. s operating subsidiaries are subject to local insurance regulations which could restrict dividends to be paid to it. There is no requirement or assurance that Aegon N.V. will declare and pay any dividends.

With limited exceptions, holders of common shares historically have been permitted to elect to receive dividends, if any, in cash or in common shares. The value of common share issued as dividends as an alternative to cash may differ slightly from the value of the cash option. Aegon N.V. pays cash dividends on shares of New York registry in US dollars through Citibank, N.A., its NYSE paying agent, based on the foreign exchange reference rate (WM/Reuters closing spot exchange rate fixed at 5:00 pm Central European Summer Time (CEST)) on the US ex-dividend day.

## Voting Rights and Appointment of Aegon N.V. Supervisory and Aegon N.V. Executive Boards

General Meeting of Shareholders. All holders of Aegon N.V. common shares and common shares B are entitled to attend personally or by proxy any general meeting of shareholders upon compliance with the procedures described below. As a matter of Dutch corporate law, the shares of both classes offer equal full voting rights, as they have equal nominal values (EUR 0.12). A holder of Aegon N.V. common shares is entitled to one vote for each share held by

such holder and represented at the meeting.

21

The Voting Rights Agreement between Aegon N.V. and Vereniging Aegon was amended in May 2013 and provides that under normal circumstances, i.e. except in the event of a special cause , Vereniging Aegon will not be able to exercise more votes than is proportionate to the financial rights represented by its shares. This means that in the absence of a special cause Vereniging Aegon has agreed to cast one vote for every common share it holds and one vote for every 40 common shares B it holds. A special cause includes the acquisition of a 15% or more interest in Aegon N.V., a tender offer for Aegon N.V. shares or a proposed business combination by any person or group of persons whether individually or as a group, other than in a transaction approved by the Aegon N.V. Executive Board and the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board. If, in its sole discretion, Vereniging Aegon determines that a special cause exists, Vereniging Aegon will notify the general meeting of shareholders and retain its right to exercise the full voting power of one vote per common share B for a limited period of six months.

A general meeting of shareholders is required to be held not later than June 30 of each year. General meetings of shareholders are called by the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board or the Aegon N.V. Executive Board and are required to be held in Amsterdam, The Hague, Haarlemmermeer (including Schiphol Airport), Leidschendam, Rijswijk (ZH), Rotterdam or Voorburg, at the choice of the corporate body that calls the meeting. The Aegon N.V. Executive Board is authorized to decide that with respect to a general meeting of shareholders, a record date will be applied on the basis of which it shall be determined in accordance with Section 2:119 of the Dutch Civil Code which persons are deemed to be shareholders for the purpose of attending and exercising voting rights at a general meeting of shareholders. Such record date and the manner in which shareholders can register and exercise their rights will be set out in the notice of the meeting. Action is taken at general meetings by an absolute majority of the valid votes cast unless a larger majority is explicitly provided by law or by Aegon N.V. s articles of association.

Aegon N.V. may not vote shares held by it or its subsidiaries.

Major Shareholders of Aegon N.V. As of November 30, 2017, Vereniging Aegon held approximately 13.59% of the common shares and 100% of the common shares B of Aegon N.V. These holdings give Vereniging Aegon approximately 14.30% of Aegon N.V. s voting shares. In the event of a special cause, as described above, Vereniging Aegon s voting rights will increase to approximately 32.64% for up to six months per special cause. Vereniging Aegon is a membership association under Dutch law. One of the principal characteristics of a membership association is that it has no share capital. The objective of Vereniging Aegon is the balanced representation of the interests of Aegon N.V. and all of its stockholders, Aegon Group companies, insured parties, employees and other constituencies of the Aegon Group. The table below shows the ownership percentage of Vereniging Aegon as of November 30, 2017.

		Percent
Title of Class	Number Owned	of Class
Common Shares	279,236,609	13.59%
Common Shares B	582,719,072	100%

Vereniging Aegon has two administrative bodies: the General Meeting of Members and the Executive Committee. As of the date of this prospectus, the General Meeting of Members consisted of 17

individuals who were elected as members of Vereniging Aegon. The majority of the voting rights is with the 15 members not being employees or former employees of Aegon N.V. or one of the Aegon Group companies, nor current or former members of the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board or the Aegon N.V. Executive Board. Those members represent a broad cross-section of Dutch society, and are called elected members. The other two members are both elected by the General Meeting of Members of Vereniging Aegon from among the members of the Aegon N.V. Executive Board.

As of the date of this prospectus, the Executive Committee of Vereniging Aegon consisted of eight members. Six of those members, including the chairman and vice-chairman, are not nor have ever been, related to Aegon N.V. The other two members are also members of the Aegon N.V. Executive Board. Resolutions of the Executive Committee, other than with regard to amendment of the articles of association of Vereniging Aegon, require an absolute majority of votes. When a vote in the Executive Committee results in a tie, the General Meeting of Members has the deciding vote. Amendments of the articles of association of Vereniging Aegon require a unanimous proposal from the Executive Committee of Vereniging Aegon (including consent of the two representatives of Aegon N.V.) pursuant to a special procedure. Following an amendment of the articles of association of Vereniging Aegon as effected on September 13, 2005, this special requirement does not apply in the event of a hostile change of control at the general meeting of shareholders of Aegon N.V., in which event Vereniging Aegon may amend its articles of association without the cooperation of the two members of the Aegon N.V. Executive Board.

Appointment of the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board and the Aegon N.V. Executive Board. Aegon N.V. has a two-tier management system consisting of an executive board and a supervisory board. Members of the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board are nominated by the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board and are appointed by the general meeting of shareholders. The number of members of the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board is determined from time to time by the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board but may not consist of less than seven members. Members of the Aegon N.V. Executive Board are nominated by the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board and are appointed by the general meeting of shareholders. For more information please see Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees of Aegon N.V. s 2016 Annual Report on Form 20-F.

Shareholder Proposals. Shareholders who, alone or jointly, represent at least one percent (1%) of the issued capital or a block of shares, alone or jointly, worth at least one hundred million euro (EUR 100,000,000) according to the Official Price List of NYSE Euronext Amsterdam (or any publication taking its place), shall have the right to request of the Aegon N.V. Executive Board or the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board that items be placed on the agenda of the general meeting of shareholders. These requests shall be honored by the Aegon N.V. Executive Board or the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board under the conditions that (a) important Aegon interests do not dictate otherwise; and (b) the request is received by the chairman of the Aegon N.V. Executive Board or the chairman of the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board in writing at least sixty (60) days before the date of the general meeting of shareholders.

Amendment of Articles. The articles of association of Aegon N.V. may be amended at any general meeting of shareholders by an absolute majority of the votes cast. Any such amendment must have been proposed by the Aegon N.V. Executive Board which proposal must have been approved by the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board.

*Annual Accounts*. The general meeting of the shareholders adopts annually Aegon N.V. s annual accounts with respect to the previous calendar year.

# **Liquidation Rights**

In the event of the liquidation of Aegon N.V., the general meeting of shareholders determines the remuneration of the liquidators and of the members of the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board. The Aegon N.V. Executive Board is responsible for effecting the liquidation, which is to be overseen by the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board. The assets remaining after payment of all debts, liquidation expenses and taxes are to be distributed to the holders of common shares and common shares B on a *pari passu* basis, with distributions on a common share B being 1/40th of the distribution on a common share.

# **Issuance of Additional Rights**

Shares of Aegon N.V. s authorized but unissued capital stock may be issued at such times and on such conditions as may be determined at a general meeting of shareholders or by the Aegon N.V. Executive Board if authorized by the shareholders. At the general meeting of shareholders of Aegon N.V. held on May 21, 2014, the Aegon N.V. Executive Board was designated, for a period of eighteen months effective May 21, 2014, by a resolution approved by the shareholders, as the company body which shall, subject to the approval of the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board, be authorized to decide upon the issue of shares and to grant rights to acquire shares. The authority granted thereby is limited annually to 10% of the capital, plus 10% of the capital if the issuance or the granting of rights occurs on the occasion of the acquisition of an enterprise or a corporation. For purposes of this paragraph, the term capital means the total par value of the common shares issued at the time this authorization is used for the first time in any calendar year. The authorization described above may only be withdrawn by a resolution of the general meeting of shareholders following a proposal by the Aegon N.V. Executive Board which has been approved by the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board.

### **Preemptive Rights**

Save for statutory exemptions, the holders of Aegon N.V. shares have preemptive rights on a pro rata basis to purchase the number of Aegon N.V. shares to be issued.

Preemptive rights in respect of Aegon N.V. shares may be restricted or excluded by a resolution passed by the general meeting of shareholders. In the notice of the meeting, the reasons for the proposal to restrict or exclude the preemptive rights in respect of Aegon N.V. shares and the intended issue price must be explained in writing. Preemptive rights may also be restricted or excluded by the Aegon N.V. Executive Board if a resolution is passed by the general meeting of shareholders which confers such power on the Aegon N.V. Executive Board for a maximum of five years. This power may from time to time be extended, but never for a period longer than five years. A resolution of the general meeting that restricts or excludes preemptive rights or that confers this power to the Aegon N.V. Executive Board can only be adopted at the proposal of the Aegon N.V. Executive Board which is approved by the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board. A resolution of the general meeting to restrict or exclude the preemptive rights or to confer this power to the Aegon N.V. Executive Board shall require a majority of not less than two thirds of the votes cast if less than one half of Aegon N.V. s issued capital is represented at the meeting. If Aegon N.V. makes a rights offering to the holders of Aegon N.V. shares, the rights of holders of Aegon N.V. s New York Shares to exercise the rights so offered is subject to a restriction which permits Aegon N.V. to sell such rights in a manner to be determined by the Aegon N.V. common shares are not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act ).

At the general meeting of shareholders of Aegon N.V. held on May 19, 2017, the Aegon N.V. Executive Board was designated, for a period of eighteen months effective May 21, 2014, by a resolution approved by the shareholders, as the company body which shall, subject to the approval of the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board, be authorized to restrict or exclude the preemptive rights of the shareholders with regard to the issuance of common shares or the granting of rights to subscribe for common shares. In respect of the issuance of common shares without preemptive rights, the authority given thereby shall be limited annually to 10% of the capital, plus 10% of the capital if the issuance occurs on the occasion of the acquisition of an enterprise or a corporation. For purposes of this paragraph, the term capital means the total par value of the common shares issued at the time this authorization is used for the first time in any calendar year.

The authorization described above may only be withdrawn by a resolution of the general meeting of shareholders following a proposal by the Aegon N.V. Executive Board which has been approved by the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board.

## Repurchase by Aegon N.V. of its Own Shares

Subject to certain restrictions contained in the laws of the Netherlands and Aegon N.V. s articles of association, the Aegon N.V. Executive Board may cause Aegon N.V. to purchase its own fully-paid shares, provided that the total number of Aegon N.V. shares so repurchased, together with shares already held in treasury by Aegon N.V. or held by its subsidiaries, may not exceed, in the aggregate, 50% of the issued capital. Such purchase may be made only upon authorization by the general meeting of shareholders, which authorization is valid for a maximum of eighteen months and must include the number of shares to be acquired, the way in which they may be acquired and the minimum and maximum purchase price. In addition, the approval of the Aegon N.V. Supervisory Board shall be required for any such acquisition. At the general meeting of shareholders held on May 19, 2017, the shareholders authorized the Aegon N.V. Executive Board for a period of eighteen months to acquire shares not exceeding 10% of Aegon N.V. s total issued capital at a price not higher than 10% above the actual market value of the shares immediately prior to the acquisition. The actual market value of common shares B will be one-fortieth (1/40) of the actual market value of common shares.

### **Certificates for Common Stock and their Transfer**

Certificates evidencing Aegon N.V. common shares are issuable, upon a resolution of the Aegon N.V. Executive Board, only in registered form. Certificates issued by the New York registrar are printed in the English language. New York Shares may be held by residents as well as non-residents of the Netherlands. Only New York Shares may be traded on the New York Stock Exchange. New York Shares may be transferred by Aegon N.V. s New York transfer agent by surrendering the New York Share certificate(s) with a completed Stock Power Medallion Guarantee. Upon surrender, Aegon N.V. s New York transfer agent, will note the transfer of the surrendered New York Shares and issue a New York Share Certificate registered in the name of the new owner. In addition, a shareholder may in accordance with Aegon N.V. s articles of association, upon the surrender for cancellation of any New York Share certificate(s) previously issued along with the deed of transfer or in a separate instrument completed in full and signed by the shareholder and the New York transfer agent, request the consent of the Aegon N.V. Executive Board to have the shareholder s name entered in the register of shareholders maintained by Aegon N.V. with respect to the share or shares owned by the shareholder and to receive, in lieu of a certificate, a nonnegotiable declaration of registration of such share or shares.

# PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

The principal market for our Common Stock is Euronext Amsterdam. Our Common Stock is also listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

The following table sets forth, for the calendar periods indicated, the high and low sales prices of our Common Stock on Euronext Amsterdam and the New York Stock Exchange as reported by Bloomberg and is based on closing prices.

	Euro Amste High		New Y Stock Ex High	
	(EU		(US	
2012	4.52	2.67	5.99	3.43
2013	6.61	4.09	9.14	5.33
2014	6.96	5.75	9.46	7.27
2015	7.66	4.91	8.32	5.45
2016	5.43	3.04	6.07	3.46
2015				
First quarter	7.66	5.94	8.32	6.97
Second quarter	7.59	6.44	8.16	7.31
Third quarter	7.19	4.91	7.91	5.59
Fourth quarter	5.85	4.93	6.35	5.45
2016				
First quarter	5.43	4.07	5.93	4.67
Second quarter	5.39	3.53	6.07	3.97
Third quarter	3.85	3.04	4.32	3.46
Fourth quarter	5.28	3.41	5.71	3.85
2017				
First quarter	5.38	4.75	5.84	5.13
Second quarter	4.91	4.30	5.40	4.79
Third quarter	5.19	4.62	6.03	5.20
Most recent 6 months				
June 2017	4.57	4.30	5.19	4.86
July 2017	4.84	4.62	5.57	5.20
August 2017	5.19	4.71	6.03	5.58
September 2017	5.00	4.67	5.94	5.53
October 2017	5.13	4.75	5.95	5.52
November 2017	5.33	5.08	6.23	5.85

On Euronext Amsterdam only shares of Netherlands registry may be traded and on the New York Stock Exchange only New York Registry Shares may be traded.

Table of Contents 46

26

## PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

The shares of Common Stock registered under this registration statement and purchased on behalf of Participants under the Plan will be purchased in open market transactions and offered to eligible Participants in the Plan as described under Description of the Plan above, without the use of any underwriters in connection with such offering. We intend to purchase shares under the Plan on the New York Stock Exchange or a foreign securities exchange on which our Common Stock is listed at prevailing market prices, including applicable brokerage expenses.

### **LEGAL MATTERS**

Certain matters with respect to the legality of the shares of Common Stock registered hereby have been passed upon for us by Onno van Klinken, General Counsel for Aegon N.V. Onno van Klinken is regularly employed by an Aegon N.V. company, participates in various Aegon employee benefit plans under which he may receive shares of Common Stock and currently owns or has rights to acquire an aggregate of less than 0.1% of our Common Stock.

Certain matters of United States federal income tax law have been passed upon for us by Allen & Overy LLP, New York, New York.

## **EXPERTS**

The financial statements and management s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting (which is included in Management s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting) incorporated in this prospectus by reference to the Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2016 have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., an independent registered public accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

27

# APPENDIX A

# **ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS**

Participating Companies Eligibility Requirements\*

Traditional I Monthly commissions of \$200 or more.\*\*

Traditional II Monthly commissions of \$200 or more.\*\*

Transamerica Employee Benefits Member of Leading Producers Group\*\*\*

WFGIA/TFA Individuals who have obtained the advance level of Level 65 (Executive

Marketing Director) or higher and individuals who were active

participants in the Plan as of February 1, 2016 who have not obtained the advance level of Level 65 (Executive Marketing Director) or higher.

- \* Eligibility Requirements are subject to the interpretation of Participating Companies and to change from time to time at the discretion of the Participating Companies.
- \*\* Commissions or compensation must relate to the sale of products written through AEGON affiliated companies or offered by or through the Participating Company which the Participant represents.
- \*\*\* In general, membership in the Leading Producers Group requires the agent to meet certain sales criteria which are established from time to time by Transamerica Employee Benefits.

A-1

# APPENDIX B

## PARTICIPANT CONTRIBUTIONS

Participating Companies Traditional I, Traditional II	Participant Contributions*  Participant may elect:
	(a) Either 2%, 4%, 6%, 8%, 10%, 12%, 14%, 16%, 18%, 20%, 22%, or 25% of the total first year commissions; or
	(b) Either 20% or 40% on renewal commissions on overrides; or
	(c) 100% of renewal commissions on universal life policies.
Transamerica Employee Benefits	Participant may elect either:
	(a) 2% of first year commissions and 10% of renewal commissions; or
	(b) 4% of first year commissions and 20% of renewal commissions.
WFGIA/TFA	Participant may contribute from 1 to 10% of cash commissions on Approved Products** (whole number % only).

- \* In any event, a Participant s contribution may not exceed the lesser of \$120,000 or 25% of the Participant s total commission in any Plan year. The interpretation of the types of commissions which are available for contribution of Participants is subject to the discretion of the Participating Companies. Commissions or compensation must relate to the sale of products written through AEGON affiliated companies or offered by or through the Participating Companies which the Participant represents.
- \*\* Approved Products are the products of AEGON affiliated companies approved by World Financial Group Insurance Agency, Inc. and its subsidiaries (WFGIA) and Transamerica Financial Group a division of Transamerica Financial Advisors, Inc. (TFA).

B-1

# **APPENDIX C**

## MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS BY PARTICIPATING COMPANIES

# **Participating Companies**

# **Matching Contributions\*(1)**

Traditional I

- (a) 2% of first year commissions\*\* for Participants electing to contribute first year commissions;
- (b) 20% of renewal commissions\*\* for Participants electing to contribute renewal commissions:
- (c) Other amounts at discretion of the Administrative Committee with 30 days notice of qualification requirements; and
- (d) No maximum on amount that may be contributed to a Participant.

Traditional II None.

Transamerica Employee Benefits

WFGIA/TFA None.

- \* The Participating Companies reserve the right to make additional discretionary contributions, although there is no obligation to do so.
- \*\* Matching contributions includes commissions payable from sales of life products only.

None.

(1) For purposes of Appendix C, commissions exclude any amounts excluded from commissions in Appendix B.

C-1

### **PART II**

# INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

### Item 8. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Aegon maintains insurance to indemnify members of the Aegon N.V. Executive and Supervisory Boards and officers of Aegon. The concept of indemnification of directors of a company from liabilities arising from their actions as members of the executive or supervisory boards is, in principle, accepted in the Netherlands and sometimes is provided for in the company s articles of association. Although the laws of the Netherlands do not contain any provisions in this respect, Article 28A.1 of the articles of association of Aegon N.V. does provide that Aegon N.V. will indemnify each current and former member of the Aegon N.V. Executive and Supervisory Boards against any and all liabilities, claims, judgments, fines and penalties incurred by such persons as a result of any action, investigation or other proceeding in relation to acts or omissions related to their capacity as an indemnified person, to the extent permitted by law and subject to certain limitations. Aegon N.V. has also contractually agreed to indemnify members of the Aegon N.V. Executive and Supervisory Boards and officers.

## Item 9. Exhibits

Exhibit Number	Description
4.1	Articles of Association of Aegon N.V., as amended and restated May 29, 2013 (1)
4.2	1983 Amended Merger Agreement among Aegon and Vereniging Aegon, as amended and restated May 29, 2013 (2)
4.3	Voting Rights Agreement, as amended and restated May 29, 2013 (3)
4.4	Specimen Share Certificate (4)
4.5	Revised Form of Declaration of Trust of Transamerica Corporation Producers Stock Purchase Plan (5) (P)
5.1	Opinion of Onno van Klinken, General Counsel of Aegon N.V.
8.1	Tax Opinion of Allen & Overy, New York, New York
23.1	Consent of Onno van Klinken, General Counsel of Aegon N.V. (included in Exhibit 5.1)
23.2	Consent of Allen & Overy (included in Exhibit 8.1)
23.3	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
24.1	Powers of Attorney (included on signature page)

- (1) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant s Form 6-K furnished to the SEC on June 4, 2013.
- (2) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant s Form 20-F filed with the SEC on March 21, 2014.

- (3) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant s Form 20-F filed with the SEC on March 21, 2014.
- (4) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant s Form F-3 (File No. 333-71438) filed with the SEC on October 11, 2001.
- (5) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant s Form F-3 (File No. 33-72144) filed with the SEC on November 24,1993.

(P) Paper exhibit.

## Item 10. Undertakings

- (a) The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes:
  - (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this Registration Statement:
    - (i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;
    - (ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of this Registration Statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in this Registration Statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the Calculation of Registration Fee table in the effective Registration Statement;
- (iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in this Registration Statement or any material change to such information in this Registration Statement; provided, however, that paragraphs (1)(i), (1)(ii) and (1)(iii) do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the SEC by Aegon N.V. pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act that are incorporated by reference in this Registration Statement or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of this Registration Statement.
  - (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
  - (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
  - (4) To file a post-effective amendment to this Registration Statement to include any financial statements required by Item 8.A. of Form 20-F at the start of any delayed offering or throughout a continuous offering. Financial statements and information otherwise required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act need not be furnished, provided that Aegon N.V. includes in the prospectus, by means of a post-effective amendment, financial statements required pursuant to this subparagraph (4) and other information necessary to ensure

that all other information in the prospectus is at least as current as the date of those financial statements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a post-effective amendment need not be filed to include financial statements and information required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act or Item 8.A. of Form 20-F if such financial statements and information are contained in periodic reports filed with or furnished to the SEC by Aegon N.V. pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act that are incorporated by reference in this Registration Statement.

- (5) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act to any purchaser:
  - (i) Each prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of this Registration Statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in this Registration Statement; and
  - (ii) Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii), or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by Section 10(a) of the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of and included in this Registration

Statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of this Registration Statement relating to the securities in this Registration Statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of this Registration Statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into this Registration Statement or prospectus that is part of this Registration Statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in this Registration Statement or prospectus that was part of this Registration Statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date.

- (6) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the Registrant under the Securities Act to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities, the undersigned Registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned Registrant pursuant to this Registration Statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned Registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:
  - (i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned Registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;
  - (ii) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned Registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned Registrant;
  - (iii) The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned Registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned Registrant; and
  - (iv) Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned Registrants to the purchaser.
- (b) The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each filing of Aegon N.V. s annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan s annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act) that is incorporated by reference in this Registration Statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(c)

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the Registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

/s/

### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant, Aegon N.V., certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form F-3 and has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Cedar Rapids, State of Iowa, on the 21st day of December, 2017.

Aegon N.V.

By: /s/ A.R. WYNAENDTS Name: A.R. Wynaendts

Title: Chief Executive Officer and

Chairman of the Executive Board

The officers and directors of Aegon N.V., whose signatures appear below, hereby constitute and appoint Onno van Klinken and Ayla Nazli, and each of them, their true and lawful attorneys and agents, with full power of substitution, each with power to act alone, to sign and execute on behalf of the undersigned any amendment or amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Registration Statement on Form F-3 and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, including registration statements filed in connection with this offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto each of said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do everything necessary to accomplish the foregoing, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, and each of the undersigned does hereby ratify and confirm all that each of said attorneys and agents, or their substitutes, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ A.R. WYNAENDTS	Chief Executive Officer and	December 21, 2017
A.R. WYNAENDTS	Chairman of the Executive Board	
/s/ MATTHEW J. RIDER	Director and Chief Financial Officer	December 21, 2017
MATTHEW J. RIDER		
/s/ ROB J. ROUTS	Chairman, Supervisory Board	December 21, 2017
ROB J. ROUTS		
/ WILLIAM L.A. CONNELLEY	Supervisory Board Member	December 21, 2017

# WILLIAM L.A. CONNELLEY

/s/ ROBERT W. DINEEN	Supervisory Board Member	December 21, 2017
ROBERT W. DINEEN		
/s/ MARK ELLMAN	Supervisory Board Member	December 21, 2017
MARK ELLMAN		
/s/ BEN NOTEBOOM	Supervisory Board Member	December 21, 2017
BEN NOTEBOOM		
/s/ DIRK VERBEEK	Supervisory Board Member	December 21, 2017
DIRK VERBEEK		
/s/ BEN VAN DER VEER	Supervisory Board Member	December 21, 2017
BEN VAN DER VEER		
/s/ CORIEN M. WORTMANN-KOOL	Supervisory Board Member	December 21, 2017
CORIEN M. WORTMANN-KOOL		
/s/ DONA DAVIS YOUNG	Supervisory Board Member	December 21, 2017
DONA DAVIS YOUNG		
/s/ JAY ORLANDI	Authorized U.S. Representative	December 21, 2017
JAY ORLANDI		